ARGUMENT 

The circuit court gave no meaningful scrutiny to the 

instruments and thus failed to apply Daubert. 

Like the circuit court’s decision, the state’s argument 

on the reliability of the MnSOST-R and the RRASOR recites 

the legal standard but largely ignores the instruments 

themselves. It forswears any assessment of what it calls the 

“overall correctness” of the instruments. State’s Brief at 2-3. 

It seems to think a court can decide a method is “reliable” 

without asking whether it tells us what it purports to tell us. 

But this is impossible. To decline to examine the merits of the 

instruments themselves is to leave the question of reliability 

to the expert witness. And as Jones has said, this amounts to 

abandoning Daubert and applying Wisconsin’s discarded 

“limited gatekeeper approach”—where expert testimony was 

admissible so long as the witness was qualified. Opening 

Brief at 14-15. 

So, for example, as Jones noted in his first brief, Jurek 

based his claim that the MnSOST-R and the RRASOR are 

reliable on studies showing a “positive relationship to 

recidivism.” Opening Brief at 12-13. But as Jones also 

explained, what this means is that they have shown a 

moderate ability to assign higher numerical scores to 

recidivists than to non-recidivists. It does not mean that the 

re-offense rates they report have been shown to be accurate. 

But these rates (e.g., the 57% recidivism rate given by the 

MnSOST-R) are the numbers Jurek told the jury—despite 

having provided no evidence they were reliable. (70:38-39). 

The state’s response? It says only that Jones “takes 

issue with Dr. Jurek’s explanation of the results of the tests” 
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and his “testimony regarding the instruments’ error rates” and 

asserts, in a conclusory way, that any such disputes are for the 

jury. State’s Brief at 32, 35. It offers no explanation of how, 

without any testimony that the recidivism rates are aligned 

with reality, a court could nevertheless conclude that they are 

“reliable.” 

The state does the same thing with respect to the 

10-year rates given by the RRASOR. As Jones has argued 

throughout this case, neither the original paper nor any other 

research support the assumption the 10-year rate can be 

reliably said to be 1.5 times the 5-year rate. The state 

acknowledges this argument, State’s Brief at 14, but then 

ignores it, again simply offering generic proclamations that 

disputes between qualified experts are for the jury to resolve. 

If it is really true that “disputes between qualified 

experts” are always for the jury, there is no Daubert standard. 

By definition, any opinion, if offered by a qualified expert, 

would be admissible. But, as Jones noted below, that’s the old 

Wisconsin standard, not Daubert. A court can’t decide if an 

expert’s approach is reliable without asking whether the 

opinions offered make sense. And it can’t decide whether the 

opinions make sense without seeing whether there is evidence 

for them. And it can’t do that if it doesn’t engage with the 

instruments themselves, and the criticisms of them. 

But that is what happened here: the court concluded 

that Jurek, and others, used (and argued about the usefulness 

of) the instruments, and from this concluded that any question 

about whether they are useful or reliable was for the jury. The 

state’s brief takes the same approach: the reader will search in 

vain for any argument about whether or how the RRASOR 

and MnSOST-R give reliable re-offense rates. 
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The state takes issue with Jones’s citation of an 

affidavit published by the creator of the RRASOR, as well as 

a journal article showing that the MnSOST-R and the 

RRASOR are little used by professionals in the field today. 

State’s Brief at 36. The state is of course correct that neither 

were submitted to the circuit court; they could not have been 

as they were released quite recently. As Jones argued in his 

opening brief and in this one, the circuit court failed to 

properly exercise its discretion on the record before it, 

because it failed to meaningfully examine the reliability of the 

MnSOST-R and the RRASOR. Jones is not asking this court 

to declare those instruments unreliable; he is asking for a new 

hearing. The point of citing these documents was not to argue 

that the circuit court erred in not considering them; it was to 

illustrate to this court the changing nature of the field of sex-

offender research—to show that though the MnSOST-R or 

RRASOR have been among “the most widely used sex 

offender risk-assessment tools,” State’s Brief at 13, this is not 

the same as saying, like the circuit court did, that they “are 

widely used in predicting recidivism.” (Emphasis added). 

For similar reasons, the fact that appellate cases from 

eight, thirteen, fifteen and sixteen years ago approved of the 

MnSOST-R or the RRASOR does not mean they remain 

reliable in the face of decreasing recidivism rates and 

advancements in the field. State’s Brief at 3. Many practices 

that were once the gold standard in diverse fields have fallen 

by the wayside over time. It’s clear that the MnSOST-R and 

RRASOR were once commonly used—they were once state 

of the art. That does not establish that they are forever 

reliable. Knowledge advances. The court’s task at a Daubert 

hearing is to do more than see whether some experts use, or 

have used, a particular method—or, once again, it is simply 

deferring to the expert rather than determining reliability. 
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As for the state’s application of the Daubert factors, it 

once again declines to address the actual problems Jones 

pointed out about the instruments, instead speaking generally 

in a discussion that amounts to the claim that the instruments 

have been around, and used, and studied for a while. State’s 

Brief at 31-36. If this is the standard—if a court is simply to 

ask whether there is a discussion or debate about a particular 

methodology—then again, virtually any testimony by a 

“qualified expert” will be admissible, since there will be at 

least one expert who supports it. This ipse dixit approach is 

certainly simple, but it is not Daubert.  

CONCLUSION 

Because the circuit court erroneously exercised its 

discretion by failing to assess the reliability of expert 

testimony, Anthony Jones respectfully requests that this court 

reverse his commitment and remand for a new trial.