# **RECEIVED**

# In the Supreme Court of Wishweldonsin

IN RE THE COMMITMENT OF ANTHONY JONES:

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PETITIONER-RESPONDENT,

υ.

ANTHONY JONES, RESPONDENT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

On Appeal From The Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable Rhonda L. Lanford, Presiding, Case No. 2013CI0004

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

AMY C. MILLER Assistant Solicitor General Counsel of Record

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 millerac@doj.state.wi.us (608) 267-8938

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Under Section 907.02(1), trial courts must ensure that proffered testimony by a qualified expert witness is both relevant and reliable. Wisconsin's law, modeled after Federal

Rule of Evidence 702 and embodying the standard set forth in Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993), places upon trial courts a "gatekeeping" obligation, id. at 597, to ensure that "junk science" does not reach the jury, Gen. Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136, 153 (1997) (Stevens, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). In undertaking this sometimes-complicated task, trial courts are granted "considerable leeway" and may, but are not required to, consider certain factors the Daubert Court articulated as indicative of reliability. See Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 149–52 (1999). These factors are whether the expert's underlying methodology can and has been tested, whether it has been peer-reviewed, whether it has a known error rate and standards controlling its operation, and whether it is generally accepted in the relevant Daubert, 509 U.S. at 593–94. professional community. Ultimately, the trial court's determination must be "tied to the facts of [the] particular case" and the particular proffered testimony, and the court's goal is to ensure that the expert utilizes the same "intellectual rigor" in the courtroom as an expert would in the field. Kumho Tire, 526 U.S. at 150, 152 (citation omitted).

In this case, the circuit court applied the proper legal standard. The court correctly cited the relevant legal standards from United States Supreme Court caselaw and considered the factors articulated in *Daubert*. The court also correctly held that Jones' criticisms of the instruments were

an issue of weight for the jury to decide, not an issue of admissibility.

II. The circuit court reasonably and rationally applied the legal standard to the facts in the record. The court went through each *Daubert* factor and reasonably found, based on sufficient evidence in the record, that the MnSOST-R and RRASOR had been tested and peer reviewed, had known error rates, and were generally accepted in the professional community. Thus, the circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when it found expert testimony regarding these instruments admissible.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Circuit Court Properly Denied Jones' Motion To Exclude Expert Testimony Regarding Certain Actuarial Risk Assessment Instruments

# A. The Circuit Court Applied The Proper Legal Standard Under Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1)

1. When reviewing a circuit court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony under Section 907.02(1), this Court must determine whether the circuit court applied the proper legal standard. See 118th St. Kenosha, 2014 WI 125, ¶ 18. Section 907.02(1) directly incorporates the standard set forth in Federal Rule of Evidence 702. Supra pp. 4–5.<sup>5</sup> The federal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Because the state statute mirrors the federal rule, this Court may look to federal law for guidance concerning how this rule should be interpreted and applied in Wisconsin. *State v. Gudenschwager*, 191 Wis. 2d 431, 439, 529 N.W.2d 225 (1995); *Seifert*, 2017 WI 2, ¶ 55 (lead op.); *id.* ¶ 223 (Gableman, J., concurring in the judgment).

rule, in turn, codifies the standard articulated the United States Supreme Court in *Daubert* and *Kumho Tire*. *See* Fed. R. Evid. 702 Advisory Committee's Note to 2000 Amendment.

Under *Daubert*, trial courts are tasked with a "gatekeeping role" with regard to expert testimony, and must "ensure that any and all [expert] testimony or evidence admitted is not only relevant, but reliable." 509 U.S. at 589, 597; *Kumho Tire*, 526 U.S. at 149 (applying *Daubert* to all expert testimony). Relevance requires that the testimony have "a valid [] connection to the pertinent inquiry." *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 592. Reliability requires that the "reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony [be] scientifically valid" and that the "reasoning or methodology properly can be applied to the facts in issue." *Id.* at 592–93. In other words, expert testimony must have "a reliable basis in the knowledge and experience of the relevant discipline." *Kumho Tire*, 526 U.S. at 149 (citation omitted).

The *Daubert* Court suggested four factors to help trial courts determine whether an expert's testimony is reliable. Trial courts "may consider" these factors, *Kumho Tire*, 526 U.S. at 149, but the inquiry into reliability is "a flexible one" and these factors are not a "definitive checklist or test," *id.* at 150 (quoting *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 593–94). The trial court's "gatekeeping inquiry must be tied to the facts of a particular case," and thus each factor "may or may not be pertinent in assessing reliability, depending on the nature of the issue, the expert's particular expertise, and the subject of his

testimony." Id. (citations omitted). As to the first factor, Daubert explained that "[o]rdinarily, a key question to be answered in determining whether a theory or technique [is reliable will be whether it can be (and has been) tested." 509 U.S. at 593. Second, "[a]nother pertinent consideration is whether the theory or technique has been subjected to peer review and publication." Id. The Court explained that this factor includes forms of peer review other than publication, as general "submission to the scrutiny of the scientific community is a component of 'good science." Id. Third, "in the case of a particular scientific technique, the court ordinarily should consider the known or potential rate of error, and the existence and maintenance of standards controlling the technique's operation." Id. at 594 (citation omitted). Finally, "general acceptance" in the professional community "can be an important factor in ruling particular evidence admissible." Id.

Ultimately, the trial court's gatekeeping function under Daubert is to ensure that "junk science" does not reach the jury. See Joiner, 522 U.S. at 153 (Stevens, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). An expert must have "good grounds" for their testimony in order for that testimony to be admissible. Daubert, 509 U.S. at 590. The trial court's objective in performing its gatekeeping function is "to make certain that an expert, whether basing testimony upon professional studies or personal experience, employs in the courtroom the same level of intellectual rigor that

characterizes the practice of an expert in the relevant field." *Kumho Tire*, 526 U.S. at 152.

Importantly, the *Daubert* standard "is not designed to have the [trial] judge take the place of the jury to decide ultimate issues of credibility and accuracy." Lapsley v. Xtek, *Inc.*, 689 F.3d 802, 805 (7th Cir. 2012). There is a "range" within fields of expertise "where experts might reasonably differ, and where the jury must decide among the conflicting views of different experts." Kumho Tire, 526 U.S. at 153. Admissibility under *Daubert* is not based on "whether [an expert opinion is supported by the best methodology or unassailable research," but instead on whether the opinion "is based on valid reasoning and reliable methodology." In re TMI Litig., 193 F.3d 613, 665 (3d Cir. 1999) (citation omitted). "The goal is reliability, not certainty[,]" and so long as the expert's methodology is reliable, "it is for the trier of fact to determine the credibility of the expert witness." *Id.*; see also Milward v. Acuity Specialty Prod. Grp., Inc., 639 F.3d 11, 15 (1st Cir. 2011) (Daubert does not empower trial courts "to determine which of several competing [] theories has the best provenance." (citation omitted)).

This Court has only once addressed the new standard codified in Section 907.02(1). In *Seifert v. Balink*, this Court considered whether a doctor's expert testimony, based on his personal experience, was admissible as to the standard of care in a medical malpractice case. *See* 2017 WI 2, ¶¶ 17–18 (lead op.). In a fractured opinion, this Court affirmed the trial

court's admission of the testimony under Section 907.02(1). Id. ¶ 136 (lead op.); id. ¶ 170 (Ziegler, J., concurring); id. ¶ 194 (Gableman, J., concurring in the judgment). Despite the fractured opinion, a majority of this Court agreed on several propositions. Most notably for this appeal, a majority of this Court agreed that the new Section 907.02(1) adopted the federal standard in Rule 702, which had adopted *Daubert*, id.  $\P\P$  6, 51 (lead op.); id.  $\P$  171 (Ziegler, J., concurring); id.  $\P$  193 (Gableman, J., concurring in the judgment), and that therefore this Court could look to federal law for guidance in interpreting Section 907.02(1), id. ¶ 55 (lead op.); id. ¶ 223 (Gableman, J., concurring in the judgment). This Court also agreed that *Daubert* suggested a non-exhaustive list of factors for trial courts to consider when making admissibility determinations, but that the inquiry is a flexible one, and trial courts are not required to consider all, or even any, of the factors in making that determination. Id. ¶¶ 64–65 (lead op.); id. ¶ 178 (Ziegler, J., concurring); id. ¶¶ 225–26 (Gableman, J., concurring in the judgment). Finally, this Court agreed that resolving disputes between qualified experts is an issue properly left to the jury, not an issue of admissibility. *Id.* ¶ 59 (lead op.); id. ¶ 227 (Gableman, J., concurring in the judgment); see id. ¶¶ 182, 187 (Ziegler, J., concurring).

2. In the present case, the circuit court applied the proper legal standard under Section 907.02(1), consistent with *Daubert*, *Kumho Tire*, and this Court's agreement in *Seifert*. The circuit court correctly explained that Section

907.02(1) "was revised in 2011 and tracks federal rule 702[,] also known as the Daubert standard . . . named after Daubert versus Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, 509 U.S. 579, 1993." R.65:47; Seifert, 2017 WI 2, ¶¶ 6, 51 (lead op.); id. ¶ 171 (Ziegler, J., concurring); id. ¶ 193 (Gableman, J., concurring in the judgment). Recognizing the "dearth of case law" interpreting Wisconsin's new Daubert standard, the circuit court also correctly acknowledged that it could "look to federal cases[] interpreting" the Daubert standard. R.65:47; Seifert, 2017 WI 2, ¶ 55 (lead op.); id. ¶ 223 (Gableman, J., concurring in the judgment).

The circuit court properly explained that there is a "gatekeeping" responsibility for trial courts with regard to expert testimony. See R.65:47–48; Daubert, 509 U.S. at 597. The court addressed the Daubert factors, including peer review, general acceptance, and whether the methods have been tested,<sup>6</sup> although the court correctly noted that the Daubert factors "do not constitute a definitive checklist or test" for admissibility. R.65:46–50; Daubert, 509 U.S. at 593–94; Kumho Tire, 526 U.S. at 149–50. Ultimately, the circuit court correctly noted that what "Daubert sought to reject" was "junk science," R.65:49; Joiner, 522 U.S. at 153 (Stevens, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part), and that its gatekeeping inquiry is meant to determine whether the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The court also addressed whether the instruments have known error rates. R.64:126.

expert "employs in the courtroom the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the [relevant] field," R.65:50; *Kumho Tire*, 526 U.S. at 152.

The court also correctly noted that Jones' "criticisms" of the instruments pertained to the "weight" the jury should assign to the testimony, "not [] admissibility." R.65:49–50. These criticisms fell well within the "range where experts might reasonably differ," and assessing such criticisms and competing expert testimony is properly the role of the jury. *Kumho Tire*, 526 U.S. at 153; *see infra* pp. 27–28.

3. Jones' arguments that the lower courts failed to apply the proper legal standard are unavailing.

As an initial matter, Jones' argument that the Court of Appeals failed to apply the Daubert standard, Opening Br. 14, is irrelevant, as the legal issue is whether the circuit court applied the correct legal standard. See Kandutsch, 2011 WI 78, ¶¶ 23–24. In any event, the Court of Appeals clearly applied the Daubert standard. See App. 102–03 (explaining that, under Section 907.02(1) "the circuit court is charged with the gatekeeping function" of Daubert and listing the four Daubert factors); App. 103 (explaining that the Daubert factors are "flexible, with the ultimate goal being to test reliability"); App. 104 (explaining that the circuit court "considered the Daubert factors," including peer review and general acceptance, in finding that the instruments were not "junk science").

To the extent Jones argues that the circuit court failed to apply the *Daubert* standard, Opening Br. 13–15, Jones is likewise wrong. The circuit court clearly employed the standard that the *Daubert* Court established for a methodology's reliability. *See Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 593–95. The circuit court articulated the *Daubert* standard and its own "gatekeeping" role to screen proffered expert testimony and ensure that the underlying methods are "reliable" rather than "junk science." R.65:47–50. Then it walked through the *Daubert* factors, even though the factors are not a "definitive checklist," and appropriately cited authority for the controlling standards and principles. R.65:47–50. As such, the circuit court applied the proper legal standard under *Daubert* and Section 907.02(1).

In the main, Jones takes issue with the circuit court's leaving for the jury the task of deciding between the conflicting views of the experts, Opening Br. 14–15, but that is precisely the task that the court *must* leave in the hands of the jury. Within the "range" of issues "where experts might reasonably differ," "the jury must decide among the conflicting views of different experts." Kumho Tire, 526 U.S. at 153 (emphasis added). If Jones believes that his expert is more credible than the State's, or that his expert's criticisms should be given more weight, then those issues should be put cross-examination, to the jury through "[v]igorous presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 596. Because that

is exactly what the circuit court did here, R.65:50, the court acted entirely in accord with the dictates of *Daubert* and Section 907.02(1).

# B. The Circuit Court Did Not Erroneously Exercise Its Discretion In Applying The Proper Legal Standard

- 1. Once a circuit court has identified the proper legal standard under Section 907.02(1), this Court upholds the circuit court's decision so long as it is reasonably supported by the facts or so long as the court rationally came to a reasonable conclusion. 118th St. Kenosha, 2014 WI 125, ¶ 18; Kandutsch, 2011 WI 78, ¶ 23. Circuit courts have "broad discretion to admit or exclude evidence." Kandutsch, 2011 WI 78, ¶ 23. And because each case is different, and the same factors will not always apply to every admissibility determination, once the trial court has identified the proper standard for admissibility, the court "must have considerable leeway in ... determining whether particular expert testimony is reliable." Kumho Tire, 526 U.S. at 152. Thus, "the court's choice of relevant factors within [the Daubert] framework and its ultimate conclusion as to admissibility' [are] reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion." Seifert, 2017 WI 2, ¶ 218 (Gableman, J., concurring in the judgment) (quoting Lees v. Carthage Coll., 714 F.3d 516, 520 (7th Cir. 2013)).
- 2. The circuit court's application of Section 907.02(1) to the instruments in dispute here—the MnSOST-R and

RRASOR—fell squarely well within its broad range of discretion permissible under *Daubert*, *Kumho Tire*, and Wisconsin law. Indeed, the circuit court's decision admitting these instruments is consistent with the uniform decisions of courts around the country. *See supra* p. 3.

As an initial matter, Jones does not dispute the overwhelming majority of the considerations supporting the admissibility of Drs. Jurek's and Allen's testimony. He conceded below that Drs. Jurek and Allen were qualified, as they had both "worked for the[ir] respective agencies for a number of years and are both licensed psychologists." R.64:5; R.65:46. Jones also conceded that the testimony was helpful, as Chapter 980 cases often rely upon expert testimony as to mental illness and dangerousness. *See* R.24:2; R.65:41, 46; Opening Br. 7–8.

Jones does not appear to claim that the State's experts based their testimony upon insufficient facts or data. As Dr. Jurek explained, he relied upon a significant amount of historical information about Jones, including Jones' "[r]ecords from the Department of Corrections, police records, his history under supervision," including "information concerning . . . . Jones's social history, his mental status, substance abuse history, sexual history, [and] treatment history." R.64:15. Doctor Allen also relied on records similar to those "others in the field of psychology use for purposes of conducting evaluations." R.64:103–04. Jones has not contended that the numerous records Dr. Jurek and Dr. Allen relied upon were

somehow insufficient, or that their use of actuarial instruments in general was improper. R.64:5–6; see generally R.24:1–9; Opening Br. 1–15; see also R.65:49 (circuit court finding that the records and actuarial instruments are "the type of information reasonably relied upon by experts in [the] field" when making these evaluations).

Jones likewise does not appear to challenge the experts' application of the methodology to the facts. Although Jones' original motion alleged, in a conclusory fashion, that the experts "applied [the] methods unreliably to the facts of this case," R.24:9, Jones never claimed that either of the State's experts used the instruments improperly by, for instance, failing to accurately input Jones' data into the instruments or incorrectly scoring the instruments. *See generally* R.24:1–9; Opening Br. 1–15; *see also* R.65:41 (Jones' counsel explaining that the issue is not "the best way to apply a particular actuarial instrument"); R.65:49 (circuit court finding that "there was no evidence suggesting or even challenging that" the experts did not reliably apply the methods to the facts).

Instead, Jones' only claim is that the methodology *itself*—use of the RRASOR and MnSOST-R at all—is unreliable, and therefore Dr. Jurek's testimony was not "the product of reliable . . . methods." Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1); *see* R.64:5–6; R.65:41 (Jones' counsel explaining that the issue is "whether or not the [instruments] are reliable and valid");

Opening Br. 9–13.7 With regard to this claim, the circuit court acted well within the bounds of its broad discretion in considering the *Daubert* factors—whether the methodology can and has been tested, whether it has been peer reviewed, whether it has a known error rate, and whether it is generally accepted—and found that the methods were reliable.

Testing. "Ordinarily, a key question to be answered in determining whether a theory or technique" is reliable is "whether it can be (and has been) tested." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 593. If a technique or theory is refutable, then it will qualify as "scientific" and thus more likely to be reliable. Id.; see also 1 David L. Faigman, et al., Mod. Sci. Evid. § 1:16 (2016–17 ed.) (explaining the relevance of this factor). And if a theory or technique has been tested, then its merit can be shown based upon "the degree to which it has survived attempts at falsification." Faigman, supra, § 1:16.

The circuit court reasonably found, based on the evidence in the record, that the instruments had been tested. R.65:48–49. Doctor Jurek testified that the MnSOST-R had been "found in over 12 research inquiries to have . . . a positive relationship with sexual recidivism." R.64:33, 39. He further testified that the RRASOR had been tested and cross-validated 35 or 36 times and that those studies "found it to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Jones does not challenge either of the instruments that Dr. Allen used: the Static 99 and Static 99-R. R.64:124; *see generally* Opening Br. 1–15. Although Jones originally challenged the Static 99, he has abandoned that challenge on appeal. *Supra* p. 17 n.4.

have a relationship with sexual recidivism." R.64:49. Doctor Allen and Dr. Wollert both also testified that the RRASOR had been cross-validated. R.64:111; R.65:29. And an article Jones himself submitted to the court cited many examples of the MnSOST-R being tested. R.24:80–81.

Jones concedes that these instruments have been tested, but takes issue with Dr. Jurek's explanation of the results of the tests. Opening Br. 12–13. But if Jones disagrees with an expert's opinion regarding the results of various studies and how much weight should be given to those results, the proper forum for that disagreement is before the jury. *Kumho Tire*, 526 U.S. at 153; *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 595. At the admissibility stage, what is relevant is that the method is capable of being and has been tested, because this indicates that the method is "scientific" and thus more likely to be reliable. *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 593.

"Peer review" PeerReview. encompasses all "submission [of the methodology] to the scrutiny of the scientific community." Id. In professional communities, "peer review" means "critical evaluation [by the community] of the research on which the asserted expertise is based." Faigman, supra, § 1:23. Allowing a methodology to be scrutinized by the professional community "is a component of 'good science,' in part because it increases the likelihood that substantive flaws in methodology will be detected." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 593. Not all "flaws in methodology' uncovered by peer review . . . equate to a lack of scientific validity, since . . . the alleged flaws [might] go merely to the weight, not the admissibility, of the evidence and the testimony." *United States v. Bonds*, 12 F.3d 540, 559 (6th Cir. 1993). Notably, peer review "is not limited to deciding what gets published." Faigman, *supra*, § 1:23. Indeed, publication "is but one element of peer review," and "is not a *sine qua non* of admissibility" because "it does not necessarily correlate with reliability." *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 593; *see also Smith v. Ford Motor Co.*, 215 F.3d 713, 720–21 (7th Cir. 2000) (holding that trial court had abused its discretion in finding expert testimony unreliable solely because the experts had not been published).

Here, the circuit court reasonably relied on sufficient evidence in the record that the instruments had been peer reviewed. R.65:48–49. Echoing *Daubert*, the circuit court correctly explained that "while publication in a journal is the most rigorous [form of peer review], it is not the only way to peer review." R.65:48. The MnSOST-R, although not originally published in a peer-reviewed journal, has been extensively reviewed by experts in the field, including by Jones' own expert. R.24:80–81; R.25:10; R.64:33–34, 64. For example, at least 12 research studies have confirmed its positive relationship with sexual recidivism. R. 64:33. As for RRASOR, although the original paper was not published in an academic journal, the instrument has been the subject of over 30 research studies and an abundance of review by experts in the field, including, again, Jones' own expert. R.24:107–110; R.64:49–50.

Jones argues that "the fact that instruments have been discussed and criticized says nothing about their reliability." Opening Br. 14. To the contrary, *Daubert* explicitly included peer review as a factor for determining admissibility because methodologies that have been subjected to scrutiny are more likely to be reliable than those that have not. "[S]ubmission to the scrutiny of the scientific community is a component of 'good science." *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 593. And not all criticisms of or alleged flaws in a methodology affect its reliability; some go instead to the weight to be accorded the methodology by the trier of fact. *Bonds*, 12 F.3d at 559; *see Kumho Tire*, 526 U.S. at 153.

Error Rate. When evaluating a particular technique, "the court ordinarily should consider the known or potential rate of error." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 594. It is important to note that "[a]ll applied science has some error rate associated with it," Faigman, supra, § 1:20, in part because "there are no certainties in science," Daubert, 509 U.S. at 590. However, if an error rate is "high enough" it can, "in close cases, determine the admissibility of the proffered testimony." Dana G. Deaton, The Daubert Challenge to the Admissibility of Scientific Evidence, 60 Am. Jur. Trials 1, § 15 (Oct. 2017).

In this case, the circuit court noted and Jones' counsel conceded that all of the instruments have known error rates, and Jones' counsel explained that his challenges were not based the instruments' error rates. R. 64:126. Nevertheless, Jones raises arguments here that the circuit court

erroneously credited Dr. Jurek's testimony regarding the instruments' error rates. Opening Br. 12–13. Yet as the circuit court noted, all actuarial instruments have "flaws," R.65:43, but this does not render them inadmissible. Indeed, as "there are no certainties in science," *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 590, all techniques will have flaws and error rates. As long as the methodology is generally thought reliable in the field, the fact that a methodology has an error rate is not enough to exclude it. *See Bonds*, 12 F.3d at 560 (if a methodology is generally accepted, "it is implicit that the rate of error is acceptable to the scientific community").

General Acceptance. "Widespread acceptance" of a technique or method by the professional community "can be an important factor in ruling particular evidence admissible." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 594. The general acceptance test "is designed [] to uncover whether there is a general agreement of [experts] in the field that this [method or technique] is not based on a novel theory or procedure that is mere speculation or conjecture." Bonds, 12 F.3d at 562 (citation omitted).

The circuit court reasonably found, based on the evidence in the record, that "[t]hese actuarial tools are widely used in predicting recidivism in sex offenders." R.65:49. Jones' own submission to the circuit court confirmed that "[s]ince its inception, MnSOST-R has been one of the most widely used sex offender risk-assessment tools." R.24:80. And even Jones' own expert, Dr. Wollert, and his colleagues had used the RRASOR. R.64:111–12; R.65:28. Indeed, courts

across the country have found that these instruments are generally accepted by the relevant professional community. See In re Commitment of Simons, 821 N.E.2d 1184, 1192–96 (Ill. 2004) ("there is no question that [actuarial risk assessment] is generally accepted by professionals who assess sexually violent offenders") (collecting cases).

Jones argues that the circuit court did not have a sufficient basis to conclude that the MnSOST-R and RRASOR are "widely used," Opening Br. 13–14, and cites a survey never presented to the circuit court (as it was published more than three years after the court's decision) as proof that the court erroneously exercised its discretion in this regard, Opening Br. 14 & n.5.8 Ignoring the fact that Jones himself provided the circuit court with evidence that the instruments were widely used, R.24:80, the court heard sufficient testimony at the hearing to establish this fact, R.64:25; R.64:125 (referencing a published article explaining that the RRASOR and MnSOST-R are both in use in the field);

<sup>8</sup> This is not the only extra-record evidence that Jones relies upon to argue that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. See Opening Br. 11−12 & n.4 (relying on an affidavit executed more than a year after the circuit court's decision and submitted in an unrelated case). However, determining whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion depends upon whether the court's decision was reasonably supported by sufficient facts in the record. See 118th St. Kenosha, 2014 WI 125, ¶ 18. And relying on evidence that not only was not submitted to the circuit court, but was not even in existence at the time the court made its ruling, is wholly improper. See United States v. Phillips, 914 F.2d 835, 840 (7th Cir. 1990) ("An appellant may not attempt to build a new record on appeal to support his position with evidence that was never admitted in the court below.").

R.65:28. Thus, there were sufficient facts in the record supporting the circuit court's entirely reasonable conclusion that these instruments are generally accepted in the professional community.

### CONCLUSION

The decision of the Court of Appeals should be affirmed.